IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MARGARET ROWLANDS and BRIAN ROWLANDS,

Petitioners,

VS. Case No. 72,291

SIGNAL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, :

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SUSAN W. FOX
Florida Bar #115448
Macfarlane, Ferguson, Allison
& Kelly
Post Office Box 1531
Tampa, Florida 33601
Telephone No. (813) 223-2411

and

WILLIAM A. DONOVAN, ESQUIRE Ruby & Donovan, P.A. 2664 Airport Road South Naples, Florida 33962-4893 Telephone No. (813) 774-5518

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 21, 1984, Margaret Rowlands, age 38, and her daughter Samantha Rowlands were bicycling north on the public sidewalk adjacent to Goodlette Road in the downtown area of Naples, Florida. (R. 182, 184, 185, 192). Samantha Rowlands was riding in front and Margaret Rowlands was approximately one bicycle length behind her. They had ridden on that sidewalk many times before. It was always clean, well-kept and without obstructions or holes. Mrs. Rowlands felt safe on that sidewalk. (R. 184).

That day a three man crew from Signal Construction Company was working near the accident site. (R. 142, 152). Signal does electrical work and traffic signal work. (R. 131). On March 21, 1984 the Signal employees were pulling interconnecting cable. (R. 142). They had a one-ton truck parked at the site. (R. 143). At the time of the accident, the crew was behind the truck taking a break. (R. 144). Signal did not post any warning signs or cones in the work area that day (R. 147-48) although it was company policy to post warning signs if the crew had materials on a public sidewalk. (R. 154-55).

Mrs. Rowlands testified that as she was riding slowly along the sidewalk, she hit an object on the sidewalk and fell off her bicycle into the road (R. 185-86) where she was hit by an automobile. (R. 188). She did not see the object before she hit it. (R. 186). After the accident, she crawled back to the sidewalk. (R. 186). She then noticed cable and rope doubled up on the sidewalk. (R. 187).

Whether or not there was rope or cable on the sidewalk was disputed at trial. The police officer at the scene testified by deposition that the Signal employees acknowledged to him that the rope was on the sidewalk. (R. 160). They told him that they felt that she should have seen it and been able to avoid it. (R. 160).

The two Signal crew members who testified at the trial denied admitting to the police officer that there was rope on the sidewalk. (R. 146, 154). Mark Roberts, one of the crew members, testified that there was not anything on the sidewalk at the time the accident occurred. (R. 154).

After the accident, Margaret Rowlands went to the hospital. (R. 189). Her whole body had been struck by the car and she hurt all over. (R. 188). Mrs. Rowlands testified that at the time of the trial she was having pain in her ribs on a regular basis, especially if she tried to reach. (R. 197). She also was suffering regularly from a sharp shooting pain in her lower right spine, pain over the shoulder, a "locking" knee, and migraine headaches. (R. 195-98).

Dr. Francis Hussey, Mrs. Rowlands' treating physician, first saw her on April 3, 1984, about two weeks after the accident. (R. 353). He had been seeing her regularly for the two years prior to the taking of his videotaped deposition. (R. 191, 360).

Dr. Hussey is a board certified neurologist, licensed to practice medicine in the State of Florida. (R. 352). When he first saw Mrs. Rowlands, he took a history and performed a neurological examination. (R. 353). The examination revealed a

limitation of head turning to the right and left. (R. 354). She had a positive foraminal compression test indicating irritation of a nerve root. (R. 354). There was positive Adson and Allen sign indicating significant muscle spasm in the neck. (R. 354). She had negative straight leg raising. (R. 354). She had facet joint pain. (R. 355). There was limitation of movement and pain in the shoulder. (R. 355).

Dr. Hussey concluded at that time that she had a cervical radiculopathy or pinched nerve in the neck; a lumbosacral facet syndrome, which is a lower back problem; pain in the ribs and the knee; and multiple bruises and trauma to the rest of the body. (R. 356-57, 359-60).

Later Dr. Hussey concluded that Mrs. Rowlands was also developing a form of post-traumatic arthritis in the facet joints in the neck and lower back. (R. 362). The treatment for such a problem is anti-arthritic medication and physical therapy. (R. 362). Dr. Hussey also prescribed an anti-depressant because Mrs. Rowlands was becoming increasingly depressed with the fact that she was constantly in pain and could not do the things she used to do. (R. 362).

Two years after the accident, Mrs. Rowlands continued to have severe right hip and back pain, neck problems, headaches, rib pain, and pain in the knee. (R. 363-6). Dr. Hussey testified that she would continue to have this pain and immobility for the

rest of her life and that the problem would get progressively worse. (R. 363-6). He concluded that she would be limited in her activities for the rest of her life. (R. 366).

Dr. Hussey projected that Mrs. Rowlands would spend a dollar a day for medication for the rest of her life¹ -- Advil or another medication. (R. 368, 370). He felt that she would require 10 to 20 therapy sessions per year at a cost of \$40.00 to \$60.00 per visit and 2 to 7 visits to a physician per year for a similar cost. (R. 369).

Finally, Dr. Hussey stated that he felt that Margaret Rowlands' condition was causally related to the accident which occurred on March 21, 1984. (R. 369).

Two doctors testified for the defense by videotape deposition. Dr. William D. Ertag, a board certified neurologist, saw Mrs. Rowlands one time -- September 17, 1984, approximately 6 months after the accident -- and spent approximately 30 minutes examining her. (R. 417, 419, 437). She was referred to his office for an independent medical evaluation by General Accident Insurance Company. (R. 419). He had a record of only one visit to Dr. Hussey and his testimony was unclear as to whether or not he reviewed that one record. (R. 438, 441-43). He did not take any x-rays or perform an EMG. (R. 441).

Dr. Ertag's diagnosis at the time of performing his examination was that Mrs. Rowlands was recovering from multiple soft tissue injuries, a neck sprain and a low back sprain. (R.

¹Mrs. Rowlands has a life expectancy of **38.8** years. (R. **163**).

432). He felt that she had "mild musculo tension headaches". (R. 432). He foresaw only a minimal total impairment if not complete resolution of her symptoms. (R. 432).

Dr. Harry M. Lowell, a board certified neurosurgeon, also saw Mrs. Rowland son only one occasion — April 22, 1986. (R. 453-55). His examination did not take longer than 15 minutes. (R. 460). He stated that he "rather doubted she had sustained a significant injury". (R. 457). His examination of her showed her to be normal. (R. 459).

Both Mr. and Mrs. Rowlands testified that before the accident she was active in numerous sports such as swimming, cycling, jazzercise, and horseback riding. (R. 168, 194). also did virtually all of the housework. (R. 170-71, 194-95). Since the accident her activities have been limited. (R. 170-71, She does exercise in the water rather than swimming. (R. 195). 195). When she tries to ride a bicycle, her left knee gets "locked". (R. 195). She cannot do most of the housework because, for example, she has difficulty bending over. (R. 195-96). cannot do grocery shopping by herself because she cannot pick up heavy articles. (R. 196). She cannot drive any longer because after she sits in the car for a period of time she gets a sudden pain in her back. (R. 171, 196).

In addition, Brian Rowlands testified that their family life has been disrupted. (R. 169-73). His wife wakes him up at night two to three times a week because she is in pain. (R. 170). Her relationship with her daughter has been strained because her

daughter has to do almost all of the housework now. (R. 171). The family can no longer take walks, play tennis, bicycle or swim together. (R. 172). His wife gets frustrated and upset and complains. (R. 172). Their former way of life has been "ruined". (R. 173).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 22, 1985, Rowlands filed their Complaint against Signal for damages for personal injuries suffered in the bicycle accident of March 21, 1984. (R. 339-41). Appellant Brian Rowlands sued for damages for loss of consortium. (R. 339-41).

Signal filed its Answer to the Complaint and affirmatively alleged comparative negligence and collateral sources. (R. 342-43).

The action proceeded to jury trial on August 19 and 20, 1986, before the Honorable Ted Brousseau. (R. 1-35). On August 20, 1986 the jury returned a verdict stating:

WE, the jury, return the following verdict:

1. Was there negligence on the part of the Defendant Signal Construction Co., Inc., which was a legal cause of injury to Margaret Rowlands?

YES.

2. Was there negligence on the part of the Plaintiff Margaret Rowlands which was a legal cause of injury to Margaret Rowlands?

YES.

3. State the percentage of any negligence which was a legal cause of damage to Plaintiff, Margaret Rowlands, that you charge to:

Margaret Rowlands

10 percent

Signal Construction

90 percent

4. What is the total amount of any damages sustained by Plaintiffs, Margaret Rowlands and Brian Rowlands and caused by the incident in question?

Total damages of Margaret Rowlands \$250,000

Total damages of Brian Rowlands \$ 45,450

So say we all this 20th day of August, 1986.

Victor Chainas, Foreman. (R. 313-14).

Signal filed its Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative, Motion for Remittitur. (R. 316). On November 4, 1986, after hearing, Judge Brousseau's Order Granting Remittitur or New Trial was filed. (R. 317-30). Said Order provided in pertinent part:

- 1. The verdict in this cause shall be reduced to Twenty Five Thousand Dollars for Plaintiff, MARGARET ROWLANDS and BRIAN ROWLANDS and against the Defendant, SIGNAL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.
- 2. Plaintiffs, MARGARET ROWLANDS and BRIAN ROWLANDS shall have ten (10) days from rendition of this Order in which to file an acceptance or rejection of this remittitur.
- 3. If this remittitur is not accepted by Plaintiffs then this case will be tried on all issues.
- 4. Attached to this Order is a copy of the 'Transcript of Motion' wherein this Court specifically stated the grounds for granting Defendants' motion. Said grounds are found on pages ten (10) through twelve (12), inclusive. Said grounds are hereby incorporated, confirmed, adopted and reiterated as if specifically set forth in this Order. (R. 317-30).

On November 10, 1986 the Rowlands filed their Notice of Rejection of Remittitur, (R. 331). An appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida, resulted in the opinion reported as Rowlands v. Signal Construction Company, Inc., 522 So.2d 59 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988); a copy of the opinion is contained in the Appendix to this Brief (A. 1). Petitioners requested this Court to accept jurisdiction to resolve an express and direct conflict of decisions among the district courts of appeal. This Court has accepted jurisdiction and has instructed the parties to file Briefs on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal involves the propriety of the Trial Judge's order, and the Second District Court's affirmance of that order, granting Signal a new trial when the Rowlands did not accept the reduction of their net \$265,905.00 verdict to \$25,000.00. The Trial Court's primary reason for granting the remittitur/new trial was his belief that the percentages of comparative negligence were against the manifest weight of the evidence. The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the Trial Court's order, except the District Court determined that on retrial the jury should be instructed that both parties were to some extent negligent and the duty of the jury would be to determine only the relative negligence and the total damages suffered.

The Petitioners submit that a remittitur or alternative new trial is not a proper means of adjusting the percentages of negligence determined by the jury. The apportioning of negligence between a plaintiff and a defendant is peculiarly within the province of the jury, and their finding should not be set aside where there is evidence of some degree of negligence on both sides.

Even if a trial court may weigh the evidence to determine whether the jury's apportionment of negligence is against the manifest weight, the Trial Judge abused his discretion in doing so in this case. There was competent substantial evidence by which reasonable people can and did conclude that the Defendant was 90% negligent and the Plaintiff only 10% at fault.

To the extent, if any, that the Trial Judge found the damages awarded to be excessive, a reversal is likewise required. Since the Trial Court's primary disagreement with the jury verdict was in the percentages of negligence, it is difficult to determine from his order the extent, if any, to which he felt the jury's determination of damages was excessive. However, since the evidence showed that the jury verdict was not excessive, the Trial Judge clearly abused his discretion in ordering a remittitur or new trial.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING, AND THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING, THE REMITTITUR OR NEW TRIAL IN THIS CASE.

This personal injury case was tried before a jury on the issue of Signal's negligence in leaving its materials on a public sidewalk during the performance of its work without warning the public of the hazard thereby created. Signal denied leaving the cable on the sidewalk, and raised the defense of Mrs. Rowlands' comparative negligence, claiming that she should have observed the cable and been able to avoid it. The issues of Signal's negligence, and of Mrs. Rowlands' comparative negligence were submitted to the jury on admittedly proper instructions. The jury found Plaintiff Margaret Rowlands 10% negligence, Defendant 90% negligence, and assessed Margaret Rowlands' total damages at \$250,000.00. Brian Rowlands was awarded \$45,450.00 his derivative claim. The jury was polled, and each juror affirmed that this was his or her verdict. Four months later, the Trial Judge ordered a remittitur to \$25,000.00, for both claims, and, in the alternative, ordered a new trial on all issues if the Plaintiffs failed to accept the remittitur. The trial judge's primary reason for ordering remittitur was the jury's apportionment of the percentages of negligence of The Court stated: parties.

> **I have to say it shocked the conscience of the Court when the verdict did come in. Not necessarily disputing the injuries or the doctors' testimony or even having to get into

that aspect of it, but probably more the liability percentages there had been that would have affected their decision. (R. 488).

The trial judge also commented, based on his recollection, that all but 20 minutes of the trial time was spent on the issue of damages, and therefore that the "overwhelming" amount of time on the damages issue might have confused the jury. There was no express finding that the damages awarded exceeded a reasonable range by any determinable amount, or of any improper or non-record influence on the jury. There was no finding of any evidentiary or other prejudicial error in the trial.

The appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal raised the following issues: (1) The jury's verdict was not against the manifest weight of the evidence, and the jury was not influenced by considerations outside the record; (2) the Judge improperly used the device of remittitur to adjust the jury's findings of

The trial judge's recollection on the amount of time spent establishing liability at trial as incorrect. The Plaintiffs' first four witnesses, Don Lee Copeland, Freddie Brown, Mark Roberts, and Officer George Stansbury testified solely on the liability issues. The only Plaintiffs' witness who testified solely on damages was Dr. Hussey. Mr. and Mrs. Rowlands also testified, but their testimony addressed both the liability and damages issues. Margaret Rowlands testified extensively as to how the accident occurred, and Brian Rowlands testified, and submitted photographs, concerning the cable he observed on the sidewalk the following day at the location of the accident. Thus, Plaintiffs presented seven witnesses, four who testified solely on the liability issues, one who addressed damages only, and two who addressed both issues. The defense presented evidence only on the damages issue.

The Court did note that the jury first returned a verdict assessing the percentages of liability without filling in the damages amount, and upon instruction from the Court, retired to complete the damages portion. There was no motion for a mistrial at that point, or any other contemporaneous suggestion by the Defendant that the jury's conduct demonstrated undue confusion.

liability; and (3) if the damage verdict was excessive, a new trial should have been granted only on the damages issue. The District Court, after a lengthy recitation of the facts in the light most favorable to Signal, agreed with the trial judge's order, except in one minor respect. The District Court observed that the trial judge's primary basis for ordering a remittitur or new trial was his disagreement with the jury's apportionment of liability. The District Court's opinion states:

It is obvious that the Trial Judge was convinced that the jury's determination of the comparative negligence of the parties was against the manifest weight of the evidence. Our independent search of the record convinces us likewise. (A. 3).

Nevertheless, the District Court confirmed that there was evidence from which the jury could have concluded that both parties were to <u>some</u> degree negligent. The one minor respect in

⁴The facts recited in the District Court's opinion do not give any deference to the jury findings, and apparently are based on For an independent and de novo evaluation of the record. example, the District Court stated, "Mrs. Rowlands testified that she really did not know what happened", i.e., how the accident happened. (A. 2). The evidence actually showed that although Mrs. Rowlands did not see the cable before she hit it, she saw it immediately after the accident. There was no doubt that after the accident, Mrs. Rowlands knew she had hit the cable in the sidewalk with the wheel of her bicycle. The District Court also notes that Samantha Rowlands, the Plaintiff's daughter, did not testify, but apparently had no problem traversing the sidewalk on her bicycle just ahead of her mother. (A. 2). By this statement, the District Court of Appeal appears to be drawing an inference, inconsistent with the jury verdict, that since Samantha Rowlands was able to avoid the cable, her mother should have been able to avoid it. The inference apparently drawn by the jury was that the trailing bicyclist watches the back of the bicyclist in front of them or her, rather than the sidewalk. Clearly, a sudden stop by the leading bicycle is a more likely source of collision or accident than an unexpected obstruction in the sidewalk. In any event, the District Court's inference is inconsistent with the jury verdict and therefore improper.

which the District Court disagreed with the trial judge was that, since the jury did find both parties some degree negligent, the new trial should be on damages and the <u>percentage of negligence</u>, rather than on all issues as to damages and liability. The Court established the retrial procedure as follows:

On retrial, the jury should be instructed that it has been determined that both parties were to some extent responsibly negligent in regard to the accident and the duty of the jury, on retrial, would be to determine only the relative or comparative negligence of the party and the total damages suffered by appellants. (A. 5-6).

A. A Remittitur Or Alternative New Trial Is Not A Proper Means Of Adjusting The Percentages Of Negligence As Determined By The Jury.

In accepting jurisdiction in this case, this Court has apparently recognized that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, allowing a remittitur or new trial in this case, conflicts with decisions of other courts of appeal on this issue. The question now presented to this Court is to what extent, and by what means, a trial court may weigh the evidence to determine whether a jury's assessment of the relative degrees of fault should be set aside.

As shown in the jurisdictional statement, all of the District Courts of Appeal, prior to the <u>Rowlands</u> decision, were in agreement that a trial court could not use the remittitur or new trial device as a means of reassessing the jury's determination of comparative fault. The Third District Court of Appeal rendered the leading decision on this issue in St. Pierre

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