OA 12-6.88

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

OCT 23 268

Deputy Clark

MARGARET ROWLANDS and BRIAN ROWLANDS,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 72,291

CLERK, SUFFALI

Petitioners

v.

SIGNAL CONSTRUCTION CO.,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON PEITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Gerald W. Pierce
HENDERSON, FRANKLIN, STARNES & HOLT, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent
Post Office Box 280
Fort Myers, FL 33902-0280
(813) 334-4121

# TOPICAL

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The remittitur ordered by the trial court was a gift from the trial court to the Plaintiffs. The Court was going to order a new trial, but it told counsel for the Plaintiffs that the Court assumed that the Plaintiffs would prefer the The Plaintiffs certainly did not option of a remittitur. object, and counsel for the Plaintiffs expressly agreed with the manner in which the matter was handled. The Defendant does not and has not disputed the fact that the trial court improperly used the concept of remittitur. The Defendant also believes that the dictum in the District Court's opinion regarding remittitur is incorrect. In response to the Plaintiffs' motion for rehearing before the District Court, the Defendant specifically requested that that portion of the opinion regarding remittitur be stricken.

Remittitur is not a legitimate issue in this case. The remittitur was rejected by the Plaintiffs, so the only real question is whether the trial court abused its broad discretion in granting the motion for new trial. By rejecting the remittitur, the Plaintiffs rendered moot the question of the propriety of the remittitur. Instead of arguing the real issue in this proceeding, the Plaintiffs in their brief point again and again to the undisputed fact that the trial court should not have given them the option of accepting a remittitur.

As this Court stated in Smith v. Brown, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1988), a trial judge can and should grant a new trial if the manifest weight of the evidence is contrary to the verdict, and, in making this decision, the trial judge must necessarily consider the credibility of the witnesses along with the weight of all the other evidence. A new trial should be ordered only when the manifest weight of the evidence dictates such action. However, when a new trial is ordered, appellate review is based upon the abuse discretion test and not upon an independent review of the evidence for a second opinion as to whether the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. In their brief, the Plaintiffs improperly request an independent review of the cold record for a third determination as to whether the verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. They have ignored the fact that the mere showing that there was evidence in the record to support a jury verdict does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion.

Our legal system is a system of checks and balances, and the discretion afforded to a trial court judge in ruling on a motion for new trial based upon the manifest weight of the evidence is an important part of that system. The discretion does not allow the trial court to substitute its judgment for the judgment of the jurors. It simply recognizes that aberrations will occur on rare occasions, and that there must be a mechanism which corrects those

aberrations. The instant case presents one of those rare occasions where the jury verdict is an aberration. The price paid by the Plaintiffs in the instant case is that they must suffer the inconvenience of retrying the case for another day and a half before a different jury. If the Plaintiffs are correct in asserting that the original verdict was just, they should be able to obtain a similar verdict from the second jury. If they are incorrect as to the propriety of the original verdict, the aberration is removed by the new trial, a miscarriage of justice is thwarted, and the cause of justice is served.

The Plaintiffs' position is that a trial court may not grant a new trial where a jury has determined issues of comparative negligence in its verdict. The argument is based upon the claim that a trial court is forbidden to make a determination regarding the manifest weight of evidence because the apportionment of negligence is a "pure Obviously, juries determine only "pure fact fact issue," Any time a court reviews a record to make a determination as to whether the verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, it is considering jury determinations of "pure fact issues." Juries do not determine legal issues or mixed questions of law and fact. The fact that the apportionment of negligence is a pure fact issue does not make it something more or less than any other jury issue. Contrary to the Plaintiffs' representations,

this type of situation has arisen in the past. <u>See Russ v. Iswarin</u>, 429 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States v. Fairbanks</u>, 400 So.2d 550 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

The only reversible error present in the instant case is seen in the District Court's mandate that the second jury be instructed that both the Plaintiff and the Defendant were to some degree negligent. The District Court misinterpreted the trial court's ruling. The trial court never determined that the finding of liability was not against the manifest weight of the evidence. The new trial should determine all issues without the limitation imposed by the Second District.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED A NEW TRIAL IN THIS CAUSE WHEN THE JURY FINDINGS AS TO LIABILITY AND DAMAGES WERE CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE; THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING THE NEW TRIAL.

The brief of the Plaintiff does not accurately advise this Court of the manner in which this case has reached its The trial court did not try to force the present status. Plaintiffs to accept a remittitur. In fact, the option of accepting the remittitur was purely a gift from the trial The Court determined that the court to the Plaintiffs. jury's findings both as to liability and damages was against the manifest weight of the evidence. A reading of the transcript of the hearing on the motion for new trial shows that the first inclination of the Court was simply to enter an order granting a new trial. The Court did not follow that inclination. It suggested to Plaintiffs' counsel that the Court suspected that the Plaintiffs would prefer the option of accepting a remittitur in lieu of a new trial. There was certainly no objection to this procedure by the Plaintiffs, since the option of accepting a remittitur was nothing more or less than a gift under the circumstances. In fact, counsel for the Plaintiffs expressly agreed with the Court that the procedure was proper.

# PAGE(S) MISSING

The Plaintiffs' position is that a trial court may not grant a new trial where a jury has determined issues of comparative negligence in its verdict. The argument is based upon the claim that a trial court is forbidden to make a determination as to whether a verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence because the apportionment of negligence is a "pure fact issue." The obvious response to that claim is that the jury determines only "pure fact issues," Any time a court reviews a record to make a determination as to whether a verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, it is considering jury determinations of "pure fact issues." Juries do not determine legal issues. Juries do not determine mixed questions of law and fact. The fact that the apportionment of negligence is a pure fact issue does not make it something more or less than any other jury issue.

The thrust of the Plaintiffs' argument is that there supposedly are no Florida cases where a jury verdict on the apportionment of comparative negligence resulted in the granting of a new trial. The Defendant suggests that the Plaintiffs overlooked an opinion authored by then-Judge Grimes in Russ v. Iswarin, 429 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). In Russ, the jury returned a verdict which found the Plaintiff eighty percent negligent and the Defendant twenty percent negligent. The trial court granted a motion for new trial based upon the claim that the verdict was not

supported by the evidence. On appeal, the Defendants argued that the trial court improperly substituted its judgment for that of the jury in granting the motion for a new trial. The District Court of Appeal rejected the Defendants' argument, and stated:

The trial judge was in a better position than this court to evaluate the evidence. It was not an abuse of discretion to conclude that the finding of Packer's 80% negligence and an absence of damages for Mrs. Packer was against the manifest weight of the evidence. Cloud v. Fallis, 110 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1959).

429 So.2d at 1240. In Russ, the trial court and the District Court of Appeal were presented with the same type of situation that is present in the instant case. In both cases, the jury determinations regarding apportionment of negligence were not supported by the manifest weight of the evidence. In both cases, the trial courts granted the Defendants' motions for new trial. In both cases, the appellate court found that there was no abuse of discretion in granting new trials based upon the fact that the verdicts were contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence.

The Plaintiffs also overlooked Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States v. Fairbanks, 400 So.2d 550 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). In Fairbanks, the jury found the plaintiff to be ninety percent negligent and the defendant ten percent negligent, and it awarded damages in the amount of \$5,000. The trial court granted a motion for new trial

based upon a determination that the verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The trial court found that justice to all parties required that both liability and damages be retried. On appeal, the District Court held that the plaintiff had failed to carry the heavy burden of demonstrating an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Court stated that it had to lend great creedence to the trial court's superior vantage point, since the trial judge was "on the scene familiar with the temperature and pulse of 400 So.2d at 553. The Court stated that the trial." although it may not agree, it could not state that the granting of the new trial was arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable, or that reasonable minds could not differ on the issue. Tđ.

In <u>Warn Industries v. Geist</u>, 343 So.2d 44 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), cert. denied, 353 So.2d 680 (Fla. 1977), the jury found that the plaintiff was fifteen percent negligent, and that the defendants were sixty percent and twenty-five percent negligent. The defendants moved for a new trial, claiming that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. The trial court denied the motion for new trial, and the District Court affirmed that denial upon appeal. The District Court did not state that it could not consider the question of whether the jury's determinations were against the manifest weight of the evidence. Instead, it looked to the record and found that it contained

substantial evidence from which the jury could have found as 343 So.2d at 47. Similarly, in Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. Shulman, 481 So.2d 965 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), the defendant moved for a new trial on the ground that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence after the jury awarded \$100,000 in damages, reduced by fifty percent for comparative negligence. The motion was denied, and on appeal, the District Court did not state that the trial court had no authority to make a determination as to whether the apportionment of negligence was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Instead, it looked at the evidence and affirmed upon the basis that it could not say that a jury of reasonable men and women could not have returned the verdict. 481 So.2d at 967. See also Fitzgerald v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 506 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (District Court refused to overturn denial of a new trial based upon manifest weight of the evidence where there was substantial competent evidence to support the verdict); McKenzie Tank Lines, Inc. v. Empire Corp., 487 So.2d 1174 (Fla. DCA Gas 1st 1986) (jury apportioned negligence of defendant at one hundred percent and awarded damages of \$109,000, trial court denied motion for new trial based upon manifest weight of the evidence, and District Court affirmed upon the basis that there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict).

The Plaintiffs' brief is based upon a misconception of the purpose of a motion for new trial which is based upon a claim that the verdict is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The Defendant does not dispute that a trial In the instant court does not sit as the seventh juror. case, the trial court did not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the jury. Instead, the trial court found that the jury's determination is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, and it ruled that the matter must be considered anew by a different jury. The trial court is substituting the determination of the new jury for the judgment of the old jury based upon the fact that the old jury verdict would have resulted in a clear miscarriage of justice.

The law in this area has recently been clarified by this Court's opinion in Smith v. Brown, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. The Plaintiffs did not discuss Smith v. Brown in In Smith v. Brown, this Court reviewed the their brief. responsibilities of the trial court and the appellate court when facing a motion for new trial based upon the manifest weight of the evidence. It appeared that the matter reached this Court because of uncertainty as to whether a trial court could order a new trial when the credibility of witnesses is at issue. The jury must evaluate the credibility of any given witness, and the trial judge should refrain from acting as an additional juror. However, the

trial judge can and should grant a new trial if the manifest weight of the evidence is contrary to the verdict, and in making this decision, the trial judge must necessarily consider the credibility of the witnesses along with the weight of all the other evidence. A new trial should be ordered only when the manifest weight of the evidence dictates such action. However, when a new trial is ordered, appellate review is based upon the abuse of discretion test and not upon an independent review of the evidence for a second opinion as to whether the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. The mere showing that there was evidence in the record to support the verdict does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion.

A review of the Plaintiffs' brief discloses that the Plaintiffs have not considered the proper standard for review of an order granting a new trial based upon the Except in the final manifest weight of the evidence. sentence in the Argument portion of their brief, Plaintiffs never even assert that the trial court abused its Instead, they request this Court to make broad discretion. independent review of the record and to make independent determination as to whether the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. The Plaintiffs have failed to recognize the fact that the mere showing that there was evidence in the record to support a jury verdict does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion. The Plaintiffs

also failed to acknowledge the fact that they were able to persuade the District Court to make an independent review of the evidence to determine whether the verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. They failed to point out this fact because the independent review by the Second District Court of Appeal resulted in the conclusion that the verdict was indeed against the manifest weight of the evidence.

The discretionary authority of a trial judge considering a motion for new trial does not allow him to enter a judgment for one or the other litigant or to deny a litigant a proper jury trial; it only allows the Court to grant another trial in order to correct mistakes or to avoid the problem that resulted in a miscarriage of justice with the first jury. Sosa v. Knight-Ridder Newspapers, Inc., 435 So.2d 821, 825 (Fla. 1983). In Sosa, this Court emphasized the fact that the trial judge is on the scene and can see, hear and observe all the participants in the trial. The general rule is that a trial court's So.2d at 825. discretion to grant a new trial is of such firmness that it will not be disturbed except on a clear showing of abuse. Id. As this reasoning applies to the instant case, the trial court did not enter a judgment in favor of the Defendant based upon its view of the evidence. Instead, it simply granted a new trial in front of a new jury in order

to correct the miscarriage of justice which would have resulted from the jury verdict.

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